#### No. 44730-4-II

#### DIVISION II, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### BRAVERN RESIDENTIAL II, LLC,

Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

## STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

Defendant-Respondent

#### ON APPEAL FROM Thurston COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Gary R. Tabor)

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Scott M. Edwards WSBA No. 26455 EdwardsS@LanePowell.com Daniel A. Kittle WSBA No. 43340 KittleD@LanePowell.com LANE POWELL PC Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant Bravern Residential II, LLC

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Under Washington's tax code, the sales tax cost of forming a joint venture to construct a building is lower than the sales tax cost of hiring a general contractor to build the building. Consequently, the formation of a joint venture with a contractor is a "common way" to construct buildings in Washington. CP 488. Appellant Bravern Residential II, LLC ("Bravern II") is a joint venture that was formed in 2007 in accordance with longstanding DOR authorities to build a residential condominium tower in Bellevue in a tax-efficient manner.

The primary issue in this case is whether Bravern II meets the three requirements identified in DOR's Construction Guide for a joint venture to qualify as a "speculative builder," constructing the tower on the joint venture's own land through the capital contributions of a "contractor member." CP 488. If it does, then sales tax is still due on the materials and subcontract labor incorporated into the building, but no sales tax is due on the value of the contractor member's contributed labor. The requirements in DOR's Construction Guide for a joint venture to qualify as a speculative builder are: (1) "a joint venture entity must actually exist"; (2) "the joint venture entity must own the land"; and (3) the contractor member of the joint venture cannot be "guaranteed a fixed amount as compensation for construction services." CP 488.

The undisputed facts establish that Bravern II satisfies all three requirements: (1) Bravern II actually exists, CP 43, 53; (2) Bravern II owns the land on which it built the condominium tower, CP 49; and (3) the members' Operating Agreement is unequivocal: "No Member shall be entitled to any guaranteed payment." CP 64. The trial court erred in failing to conclude that Bravern II meets the requirements in DOR's Construction Guide for a joint venture to qualify as a speculative builder.

In its cross-motion, DOR argued in the alternative that a statute enacted in 2010, RCW 82.32.655, retroactively authorized DOR to "disregard" Bravern II's 2007 arrangement. However, RCW 82.32.660 expressly prohibits DOR from applying RCW 82.32.665 to arrangements that were entered into in accordance with published DOR guidance, such as DOR's Construction Guide and the published DOR Determinations on which the Construction Guide is based. Moreover, DOR's argument is contrary to the plain language of RCW 82.32.655, which expressly limits DOR's new taxing authority to specifically defined types of arrangements. Bravern II does not fall within the statutory definition. Finally, even if the statute were construed to permit retroactive taxation of Bravern II, such construction would be unconstitutional.

#### **II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

Bravern II makes the following assignment of error:

1. The Superior Court erred in denying Bravern II's summary judgment motion and granting DOR's motion. CP 655.

#### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether Bravern II meets the three requirements for a joint venture to qualify as a speculative builder, constructing a building on the joint venture's own land through the capital contributions of its members.

2. Whether RCW 82.32.655 retroactively authorized DOR to disregard Bravern II's qualification as a speculative builder when:

a. RCW 82.32.660 prohibits DOR from applying RCW 82.32.655 where, as here, the arrangement was entered into before the statute was enacted and conforms to published DOR guidance such as the Construction Guide;

b. Bravern II does not satisfy the either the form or substance requirements set forth in RCW 82.32.655; and

c. Retroactive application of RCW 82.32.655 would be unconstitutional.

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Statement of Facts.

Bravern II is a joint venture between Bravern Residential Mezz II, LLC ("BRM") and PCL Construction Services, Inc. ("PCL"), formed to build a residential condominium tower known as Signature Residences at The Bravern, Tower 4 ("Tower 4").<sup>1</sup> CP 49, 627. As its name implies, Tower 4 is one of a group of buildings in a larger complex known as The Bravern, located in downtown Bellevue. The other buildings in the Bravern complex were built by joint ventures with the same organizational structure. The Bravern, LLC ("The Bravern") was the joint venture formed to build the retail building, two office towers (Towers 1 and 2), and a parking garage in the complex. Bravern Residential I, LLC ("Bravern I") was formed to build another residential condominium tower known as Signature Residences at The Bravern, Tower 3. CP 310-312.

The Bravern, Bravern I, and Bravern II are identically structured, with each utilizing the same structure that had been long used by "a number of Washington's largest construction companies" and property developers. CP 392. For many years, similarly structured joint ventures had routinely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> BRM and PCL are unrelated parties who were each represented by their own counsel in the formation of Bravern II. BRM was represented by Marc Kretschmer of Fikso Kretschmer Smith Dixon PS and PCL was represented by Robin Thaxton Parkinson from the Law Offices of Robin Thaxton Parkinson.

received DOR letter rulings confirming that the joint venture qualified as a speculative builder under DOR's published guidance. CP 317 (a "Construction JV Ruling"). In fact, PCL, Bravern II's construction member, specifically sought out membership in Bravern II because of PCL's experience with similarly structured joint ventures that had received Construction JV Rulings dating back to at least 1999. CP 335-336.

Bravern II satisfied the first requirement for a joint venture to be a speculative builder—that "a joint venture entity must actually exist"—by filing a certificate of formation with the Secretary of State, CP 43, and entering into a written Operating Agreement between its Members. CP 53. Bravern II satisfied the second requirement for a joint venture to be a speculative builder—that "the joint venture entity must own the land"—by obtaining deeded title to the land on which it built Tower 4. CP 49. Bravern II satisfied the third requirement for a joint venture to be a speculative builder—that the contractor member cannot be "guaranteed a fixed amount as compensation for construction services"—by its Operating Agreement, which expressly prohibits any member from receiving any guaranteed payments. Paragraph 3.5 of the Operating Agreement provides:

**3.5 No Guaranteed Payments**. No Member shall be entitled to any guaranteed payments from the Company, whether within the meaning of IRC Section 707(c) or otherwise.

CP 64.

DOR's Construction Guide explains that when these three requirements are satisfied, "the joint venture is a speculative builder. In this case the work performed by the contractor is a contribution to the capital of the joint venture." CP 488. Consistent with DOR's Construction Guide, paragraph 2.2.4 of the Operating Agreement specifically provides for PCL, as the construction member, to "make periodic contributions of services and materials" to Bravern II "for which it shall receive credits to its capital account." CP 62. A contribution of capital in exchange for an adjustment to a member's capital account is not a sale and therefore not subject to sales tax. WAC 458-20-106(5) ("Transfers of capital assets to a partnership or joint venture in exchange for an interest in the partnership or joint venture" are "not taxable").

Separately, the Operating Agreement permitted Bravern II, at the discretion of its managing member and subject to the availability of Cash Available for Distribution (a defined term in the Operating Agreement), to make discretionary capital redemptions. CP 63. Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, discretionary distributions of Cash Available for Distribution constituted a "partial return of capital" that reduced the recipient member's capital account. *Id.* As with capital contributions, redemptions of capital are not taxable events. WAC 458-20-106(5) ("Transfers of capital assets . . . by a partnership or joint venture to its members in

exchange for a proportional reduction of the transferee's interest in the partnership or joint venture" are "not taxable").

Qualification of a joint venture as a speculative builder does not, of course, exempt the joint venture from taxation. DOR's Construction Guide explains that when a joint venture qualifies as a speculative builder, constructing a building on the joint venture's own land through the capital contributions of its members, sales tax is due "on materials purchased or produced for incorporation into the real estate." CP 488. "Additionally, sales or use tax must be paid on services provided by third-party subcontractors." CP 319 (Construction JV Ruling).

Here, \$7,911,180 of sales tax was paid on materials and subcontractor labor incorporated into Tower 4 during its construction. CP 628. Bravern II does not dispute that such tax was properly due. Indeed, Bravern II's status as a speculative builder only excluded the value of the labor performed by PCL as part of its capital contribution to Bravern II from the measure of sales tax paid on the construction of Tower 4. DOR has long recognized this tax treatment through its Construction Guide and numerous favorable rulings approving identically structured joint ventures as speculative builders, including The Bravern.

#### B. Procedural History.

The Bravern received a letter ruling confirming that The Bravern would be taxed as a speculative builder on August 24, 2007. CP 398. Bravern II submitted an identical ruling request just three days later on August 27, 2007. CP 403. Bravern II, however, was the victim of bad timing. In the spring of 2007 (at the height of the construction boom), DOR became concerned about a perceived increase in the volume of requests for the Construction JV Ruling and desired to cease issuing them.<sup>2</sup>

Recognizing that its existing guidance, including the Construction Guide, on which the Construction JV Ruling was based was "insufficient" to deny requests submitted by properly structured joint ventures like Bravern II (CP 388), DOR decided to commence a stakeholder process "in order to develop additional guidance" that could be used to support denials of such requests. CP 391. DOR's Director informed the Governor that, because DOR had approved "a number of requests" in "past years," as a matter of "both fairness and consistency," DOR would "continue to approve requests that are similar to those already approved" until new standards were established. CP 391.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> DOR does not track ruling requests and, consequently, is unable to determine how many Construction JV Rulings it issued to similarly structured joint ventures. CP 384.

However, after commencing the stakeholder process, DOR changed its position. Rather than approving Bravern II's request as it had The Bravern's, an internal email indicates that DOR decided it would "neither approve[] nor den[y]" pending requests until completion of the stakeholder process. CP 414. DOR changed its position yet again, and in November 2007 (before the second stakeholder meeting) decided to deny *all* requests for Construction JV Rulings submitted after August 24, 2007, which denials would "clearly set[] out the Department's legal position." CP 417.

However, it took another three months for DOR to formally deny Bravern II's request. On February 29, 2008, DOR circulated "DRAFT Proposed Guidance" for "general input" at the third stakeholder meeting scheduled for March 26, 2008. CP 428. That same day, February 29, 2008, DOR issued its denial of Bravern II's ruling request, CP 420, which denial—instead of "clearly setting out the Department's legal position" was simply cut-and-pasted verbatim from the DRAFT Proposed Guidance DOR had simultaneously circulated to stakeholders for comment. CP 425.<sup>3</sup> The DRAFT Proposed Guidance, however, never went beyond the draft stage and was never adopted. CP 426. On September 25, 2008, DOR terminated the stakeholder process, advising stakeholders that it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Compare the Bravern II Denial, CP 420-422, with the DRAFT Proposed Guidance, CP 432-433.

would "not be issuing additional written guidance" but "instead" would "rely on [existing] published determinations . . . to provide guidance on this issue." CP 439. DOR did not do that; instead, it disregarded the guidance set forth in its Construction Guide.

Bravern II filed an administrative appeal of DOR's denial of its ruling request, which appeal was denied on April 29, 2009. CP 441. Bravern II sought reconsideration, which was denied on April 8, 2010. Because Washington law provides no mechanism for obtaining direct judicial review of the denial of a ruling request, *Booker Auction Co. v. DOR*, 158 Wn. App. 84, 88-89, 241 P.3d 439 (2010), Bravern II paid \$107,842.10 in tax on a discretionary distribution made to its construction member and brought this refund action in order to obtain judicial review of DOR's denial of Bravern II's request for a Construction JV Ruling. CP 4.

On cross-motions for summary judgment, the Superior Court denied Bravern II's motion and granted DOR's without explanation of the basis for its ruling. CP 654. This appeal followed.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Superior Court erred in denying Bravern II's summary judgment motion because Bravern II meets all three requirements for a joint venture to qualify as a speculative builder.

## 1. Speculative builders are not subject to sales tax on the value of their own labor.

Washington's sales tax only applies to "retail sales," which are defined by statute to include the sale of construction labor performed by one "person" on land owned by another "person." RCW 82.04.050(2)(b). However, construction labor performed on a person's own land is outside the statutory definition of a retail sale and, therefore, is not subject to tax. *Rigby v. State*, 49 Wn.2d 707, 710-11, 306 P.2d 216 (1957). DOR refers to a "person" who builds on that person's own land as a "speculative builder." WAC 458-20-170(2)(a), CP 17.

Qualification as a "speculative builder" has a significant impact on the sales tax costs of constructing a building. When a contactor sells construction services to a landowner, no sales tax is due on the contractor's purchases of materials and third party subcontractor labor (because those are wholesale transactions)<sup>4</sup> with the sales tax being due instead on the entire amount the contractor charges the landowner. WAC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> WAC 458-20-170(4)(c).

458-20-170(4)(a); see also Klickitat County v. Jenner, 15 Wn.2d 373, 382, 130 P,2d 880 (1942). The result is that sales tax is ultimately paid not just on the construction materials and subcontract labor, but also on the labor performed by the contractor.

In contrast, when a contractor makes a capital contribution of construction services to a joint venture that is a speculative builder, sales tax is still due on the materials and subcontract labor purchased by the contractor in its capacity as member but is not due on the contractor's contributed labor. WAC 458-20-170(2)(e); CP 488 (Construction Guide), CP 319 (Construction JV Ruling). Thus, by forming a joint venture to construct the building, the value of the contractor member's labor is excluded from the sales tax base, while sales tax continues to be paid on the value of the materials and subcontract labor used in the project.

In summary, the sales tax cost of hiring a contractor to construct a building is higher than the sales tax cost of forming a joint venture with a contractor because the value of the labor is treated as an untaxed capital contribution rather than a sale of construction services.

# 2. DOR's Construction Guide identifies the requirements for a joint venture to be a speculative builder.

As DOR acknowledges in its Construction Guide, the formation of a joint venture with a contractor "is a common way to accomplish the development of real estate." CP 488. Consistent with the principles discussed above, DOR's Construction Guide explains: "When a joint venture owns the land and the contractor performs construction services as a member of the joint venture . . . the joint venture is a speculative builder" and "the work performed by the contractor is a contribution to the capital of the joint venture." *Id.* Contributions of capital are not subject to sales tax. WAC 458-20-106(5).

DOR's Construction Guide identifies the three requirements long established in its Excise Tax Advisories ("ETAs") and published Washington Tax Determinations ("WTDs") that define when a joint venture qualifies as a speculative builder. First, "the joint venture entity must actually exist." CP 488. Second, "the joint venture entity must own the land." *Id.* Third, the members cannot "be guaranteed a fixed amount as compensation for construction services." *Id.* 

Bravern II, like the similarly structured joint ventures to whom DOR had been issuing Construction JV Rulings for years, meets all three of these requirements. Consequently, Bravern II is not subject to sales tax on the value of construction services contributed to by its contractor member and is entitled to a refund of the tax it paid in order to obtain judicial review of DOR's denial of its ruling request.

# 3. Bravern II meets the first requirement—it actually exists.

The first requirement for a joint venture to qualify as a speculative builder is that "a joint venture entity must actually exist." CP 488. While this requirement may seem obvious, DOR has faced numerous instances in which taxpayers have claimed construction joint venture treatment when there was no evidence that a joint venture entity had actually been formed. For example, in Det. No. 88-14, 5 WTD 19 (1988),<sup>5</sup> a construction company argued that it had formed a joint venture with the owner of three lots on which the company had built homes, even though the joint venture agreement was not entered into until after "the homes had already been completed." 5 WTD at 20. Under those facts, DOR held that there had been no joint venture entity in existence when the homes were being built. 5 WTD at 23. Similarly, in Det. No. 90-108, 9 WTD 231 (1990), the "issue [was] whether joint ventures existed." DOR declined to apply joint venture treatment to an alleged joint venture logging operation where "the lack of evidence . . . fails to support the taxpayer's contention that joint ventures existed." 9 WTD at 237.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Washington Tax Determinations are available on DOR's website at <u>http://taxpedia.dor.wa.gov</u>.

In contrast, in Det. No. 99-108, 19 WTD 143 (2001), DOR "found the taxpayers created a valid joint venture" for the publication of telephone directories existed by virtue of the parties' execution of a written agreement. Because the joint venture existed, distributions to the members were not subject to tax. 19 WTD at 151. Similarly, in Det. No. 87-254, 3 WTD 431 (1987), DOR recognized the joint venture actually existed where the existence of the joint venture was established by a written agreement.

In the present case, the undisputed facts establish that the joint venture entity, Bravern II, actually exists. The record includes Bravern II's certificate of formation (CP 43) as well as its Operating Agreement. CP 53. Moreover, both in its administrative determination and again on reconsideration, DOR specifically acknowledged the existence of the joint venture entity, defining Bravern II as the "Joint Venture" and noting that "the rights and responsibilities of the parties to the Joint Venture are set forth in an Operating Agreement signed by both members." CP 226, 257. The undisputed facts thus unequivocally establish the first requirement—"that a joint venture entity actually exists."

#### a. DOR's contention that Bravern II is not a joint venture because it has a managing member was both untimely and erroneous.

Notwithstanding the undisputed evidence and DOR's prior express acknowledgement that Bravern II is a joint venture, DOR argued for the first time near the end of its reply brief in Superior Court that Bravern II "is not a joint venture" because the Operating Agreement appoints BRM as "Managing Member," CP 637-638, a proposition for which DOR cited no authority.<sup>6</sup> In addition to being untimely<sup>7</sup>, the contention is legally wrong.

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