COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRAVERN RESIDENTIAL II, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Charles Zalesky, WSBA No. 37777 Assistant Attorney General Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5528

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

Even if there were some ambiguity in the controlling tax statutes—which there is not—WAC 458-20-170 (Rule 170) pertaining to construction services would be entitled to "considerable deference" in determining the proper construction of the statutes. *Nord Nw. Corp.*, 164 Wn. App. at 229. Under Rule 170, Bravern II is not entitled to the refund it is seeking.

1. Bravern II is not entitled to a refund under Rule 170 or the Department tax determinations applying that Rule.

Department administrative Rule 170 explains, among other things, the tax consequences that flow from the legal distinction between a "prime contractor" performing construction services on land owned by another person and a "speculative builder" performing construction services on its own land. To qualify for the tax advantages of a speculative builder, the contractor must own the land. WAC 458-20-170(2)(a). It is not enough for the construction contractor to be a "member" or "owner" of the entity that owns the land. WAC 458-20-170(2)(f); see also Nord Nw. Corp., 164 Wn. App. at 215 ("[W]e agree with the Department's interpretation of the rule it enforces and conclude WAC 458-20-170(2) unambiguously requires real property ownership to qualify as a speculative builder.").

Rule 170(2)(f) explains that a business entity is a distinct person from its owners and that "[p]ersons . . . who perform construction upon land owned by their corporate officers, shareholders, partners, owner, coventurers, etc., are constructing upon land owned by others and are taxable as sellers under this rule, not as 'speculative builders.'" In construing this administrative rule, the Department has historically looked at the manner in which the person performing the construction services is compensated for the services. If the person performing the services has an absolute right to payment for its services, the transaction is considered a retail sale. By contrast, if the person performing the construction services has no right to payment for those services, but merely "contributes" those services to a business venture in exchange for the right to share in the profits of the venture, the Department has treated the contractor as a speculative builder. This analysis was explained by the administrative law judges that decided Bravern II's administrative appeal:

In construing [Rule 170(2)(f)] our determinations have looked to the manner in which the "person" performing the construction services at issue is compensated, and specifically whether such payments may be characterized as "absolute." The language most frequently used to articulate this inquiry, focuses on whether the person performing the construction services "has an absolute right to payment for services rendered. . . , that is, [if] the payment is not based on any right to profit or gain, the[n the] payment is subject to tax."

CP 248 (quoting Det. No. 02-0123, 22 WTD 206 (2003)).

This application of Rule 170(2)(f) is consistent with other published tax determinations. In effect, the Department will look at the substance of the transaction to determine whether the payment received by a member of a joint venture was (1) consideration in exchange for services or property provided to the joint venture (a taxable retail sale) or (2) merely the sharing of profits from the venture. For instance, in Determination No. 87-254, the Department addressed a claim by a taxpayer that amounts it received from a joint venture it had created were profits from the venture, not proceeds from the lease of assets to the venture, even thought the payments were characterized as "rent" in the joint venture agreement. See CP 538 (copy of Det. No. 87-254). In analyzing the taxpayer's claim, the Department looked at the substance of the transaction and determined that the payments were profits from the activities of the venture, not taxable rent payments. The Department explained that the payments were not "absolute" because the taxpayer would receive no payment unless the venture generated profits. CP 539.

Likewise, in Determination No. 89-290, the Department addressed a claim by a taxpayer that amounts it received from a joint venture it created to develop and sell real estate were distributions of profit from the venture, not the payment of interest on money advanced by the taxpayer.

See CP 542. In analyzing the taxpayer's claim, the Department looked at the substance of the payments and determined that they "were dependent on the sale of the property" being developed by the joint venture. CP 545. The taxpayer had no right to the payments absent "the existence of a profit" from the venture. *Id.* Based on these facts, the Department concluded that the payments were akin to the sharing of profits in the venture and not interest on loans to the venture.

In Determination No. 90-74, the Department addressed a claim by a construction contractor that argued it was acting as a speculative builder with respect to three construction projects. *See* CP 548. The taxpayer, a partner in the partnerships that owned the land on which the construction took place, claimed that it had no right to any payments from the partnerships for its construction activities other than the distribution of profits. In analyzing the claim, the Department explained that "partners are considered as third party service providers to the partnership of which they are a member when the obligation of the partnership to pay for such services is 'absolute' or fixed, and exists independently of any right to profit or gain" from the partnership. CP 551. As construed by the Department, an "absolute" or fixed payment would include any amount received from the partnership other than the distribution of profits from the partnership. *Id*.

These published tax determinations, and others, reflect the Department's application of Rule 170(2)(f). If a contractor receives no consideration for construction services it performs as a member of a joint venture other than a share of profits from the venture, the Department will treat the contractor as a speculative builder. In the typical case, a contractor and a land owner create a joint venture to build houses for sale to the public. The contractor receives no compensation for its services other than the right to share in the profits recognized by the joint venture when the venture sells the improved real property. In that circumstance, the Department does not treat the right to receive future profits from the venture as valuable consideration for the construction services performed by the contractor-member. See, e.g., CP 555 (copy of Det. No. 99-176, explaining that where a true joint venture was created between a contractor and a land owner involving a 50-50 split of the proceeds from the venture and no other consideration, the contractor was treated as a speculative builder).

The Department's treatment of services provided in exchange for the right to share in the profits of a venture is similar to the tax treatment the federal courts and the Internal Revenue Service follow when determining whether a "service partner" has received taxable income in exchange for services provided to the partnership. Under the federal income tax code, the receipt of a capital interest in a partnership in exchange for services constitutes gross income to the service partner at the time of receipt. As explained in *Campbell v. Commissioner*, 943 F.2d 815 (8th Cir. 1991), "[w]hen a service partner receives an interest in partnership capital, the cases clearly hold that a taxable event has occurred. The receipt of the capital interest must be included in the service partner's income. . . . There is little, if any, dispute that such a transaction involves the recognition of income." *Id.* at 820.

While the receipt of a capital interest in a business entity in exchange for services is universally recognized as income to the service provider, the same is not true of a *profits* interest. ¹⁰ The seminal case to analyze the issue is *Campbell*. In that case, the Eighth Circuit explained why receipt of a *profits* interest is distinguishable from the receipt of a *capital* interest. "When one receives a capital interest in exchange for services performed, a shift in capital occurs between the service provider and the [other] partners. The same is not true when a service partner receives a profits interest." *Id.* at 822. When a partner receives only a profits interest, "prior contributions of capital are not transferred from

¹⁰ A "profits interest" in a partnership gives a partner a share of future partnership profits but no interest in partnership capital on the date of the grant. For a detailed explanation of the distinction between a capital interest and a profits interest, see Bradley T. Borden, *Profits-Only Partnership Interests*, 74 Brook L. Rev. 1283, 1295-1298 (2009).

existing partners' capital accounts to the service provider's capital account." *Id.* Stated somewhat differently, the receipt of a profits interest in exchange for services "does not create the same concerns" as the receipt of a capital interest "because no transfer of capital assets is involved. . . . Thus, some justification exists for treating service partners who receive profits interest differently than those who receive capital interests." *Id.* at 822.¹¹

Although not a perfect analogy, the Department employs a similar approach to determine whether a contractor that contributes services to a joint venture is making a retail sale of its construction services. In effect, the Department—in applying Rule 170(2)(f)—does not treat the receipt of *profits* flowing from the business entity as consideration for services provided to the joint venture. On the other hand, when a contractor-member receives a *capital* interest in the venture, or receives other valuable property in exchange for the services it provides to the venture, the contractor-member has received consideration in exchange for performing construction services on land owned by another. That is a retail sale under RCW 82.04.050(2)(b).

¹¹ In 1993 the IRS acquiesced to the *Campbell* decision. *See* Rev. Proc. 93-27, 1993-2 C.B. 343 (1993). Thus, for federal income tax purposes, the IRS generally does not treat the receipt of a profits interest in exchange for services as gross income to the partner at the time of receipt.

In the present case, PCL Construction received a capital interest, not a mere profits interest, in Bravern II in exchange for the construction services it provided to Bravern II. None of the cash distributions that Bravern II paid to PCL Construction were tied in any way to profits generated by Bravern II. This is confirmed by the undisputed evidence. Under the terms of the Operating Agreement, PCL Construction received periodic cash distributions from its capital account during the construction of Tower 4. CP 63 at ¶ 3.2. Bravern II made these periodic distributions within twenty days after PCL Construction had received a credit to its capital account in the amount of the "current" construction services it provided to Bravern II. CP 297-99; see e.g., CP 119 (SVMA # 2 showing amount billed to Bravern II for PCL's "current" construction activity for the month of April 2008). The cash distributions were not based on any sharing of profits from the Tower 4 "venture." In fact, PCL Construction never received any distribution of profits from its minority ownership interest in Bravern II. By the time Bravern II was ready to generate income from the lease of apartments in Tower 4, PCL Construction had already transferred its interest in Bravern II to the majority owner. See CP 158 (PCL Construction assigned its interest in Bravern II to BRM effective February 8, 2011).

The federal "Schedule K-1" forms issued to PCL Construction for the 2008 through 2011 tax periods also confirm that PCL Construction did not share in the profits of the Tower 4 project. *See* CP 185-199.

Those tax forms show that PCL Construction received no income from Bravern II's business operations. CP 185 at Part III, lines 1-11; CP 189 at Part III, lines 1-11; CP 193 at Part III, lines 1-11; CP 197 at Part III, lines 1-11. Thus, it is undisputed that PCL Construction did not contribute construction services to Bravern II in exchange for the right to share in the profits of the venture. Instead, PCL Construction built Tower 4 for Bravern II, on land owned by Bravern II, in exchange for a capital interest in Bravern II equal to the cash value of the services it performed and materials it used. Under both the plain language of the relevant statutes and the Department's application of administrative Rule 170(2)(f), that was a retail sale.

2. The Department's construction tax guide is consistent with its treatment of construction joint ventures and does not support Bravern II's refund claim.

Bravern II relies primarily on the Department's "construction tax guide" as support for its refund claim. App. Br. at 12-22. The tax guide is not law. It is a publication issued by the Department to summarize the tax law as it applies to the construction industry. *See* CP 487 ("This publication is a guide to help those engaged in construction activities

determine their state tax liabilities"). The guide includes a section summarizing the law pertaining to "speculative building." *Id.* (listing "Speculative Building" as third primary topic under the table of contents). ¹² Bravern II takes portions of that section of the guide out of context in an effort to claim a tax refund to which it is not entitled.

The Department's construction tax guide explains, among other things, that a joint venture can qualify as a speculative builder if the venture owns the land and performs the construction. "To be treated as a speculative builder, a joint venture entity must actually exist and the joint venture entity must own the land **and** perform the construction itself." Appendix C at p. 2. This is a correct statement of the law. *See Nord Nw. Corp.*, 164 Wn. App. at 215 ("WAC 458-20-170(2) unambiguously requires real property ownership to qualify as a speculative builder").

The guide also explains that when construction services are performed by a member of the joint venture and the member is "guaranteed a fixed amount as compensation for construction services independent of any right to profit or gain," the member is taxable as a prime contractor. Appendix C at p. 2. As discussed above at pages 26

¹² CP 487-488 is an excerpt from a past version of the construction tax guide. The entire guide as currently updated is available on-line at http://dor.wa.gov/content/doingbusiness/businesstypes/industry/construction/default.aspx. A copy of the updated portion of the guide involving "speculative building" is attached as Appendix C.

through 28, this statement is consistent with Rule 170(2)(f) and the Department's published tax determination applying that rule.

Conversely, when the member is granted only the right to share in the profits of the venture, the member is not treated as engaging in a taxable sale of construction services to the joint venture. In that circumstance, the member is not "performing construction services as a separate entity," and the venture can qualify as a speculative builder. *Id.* Again, when read in context, the construction tax guide is entirely consistent with the Department's application of Rule 170(2)(f).

Bravern II's efforts to use the construction tax guide to expand speculative builder treatment to a joint venture or LLC that is purchasing construction services from a member should be rejected. The guide does not support such a broad application of the law.

3. The letter ruling issued to Bravern II was consistent with the Department's treatment of construction joint ventures.

Bravern II also argues that the Department mishandled a letter ruling request jointly submitted by BRM, PCL Construction, and Bravern II. See App. Br. at 8-10. The ruling request submitted by the three taxpayers explained the basic facts pertaining to the planned construction of Tower 4. CP 211. After considering the facts presented by the taxpayers, the Department issued its ruling explaining that the proposed

construction of Tower 4 would not qualify as speculative construction. CP 221.

Bravern II argues that the analysis contained in the Department's letter ruling was inconsistent with tax reporting instructions the Department provided to similarly structured joint ventures. However, Bravern II has not raised an estoppel claim. CP 497. As a result, its argument that the letter ruling is inconsistent with other Department informal guidance is immaterial.

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